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On January 28, 1999, we heard Employee's claim for compensation.  The hearing was continued to February 9, 1999, to receive testimony from Carolyn M. Radar, M.D., Employee's attending physician.  Employee appeared at the hearings and was unrepresented.  Attorney Constance E. Livsey represented Laidlaw Transit, Inc., and its insurer, National Union Fire Insurance Company (Employer).  We closed the record at the conclusion of the February 9, 1999 hearing.  


On March 10, 1999, pursuant to our authority under AS 23.30.135, we notified the parties we were reopening the record  to take additional medical evidence from Dr. Radar by written inquiry.  We received Dr. Radar's reply on March 19, 1999.  Employee notified the Board he received his copy of Dr. Radar's response on March 23, 1999.  The Board advised the parties they had 10 days, until April 2, 1999, to file objections or requests for cross-examination.  Thereafter, we closed the record when we next met, on April 13, 1999.


ISSUES

(1)
Did Employee suffer a compensable mental injury in the course and scope of his employment?


(2)
Did Employee suffer a compensable physical injury in the course and scope of his employment?


(3.)
Is Employee entitled, under AS 23.30.180, to permanent total disability (PTD) benefits?


(4.)
Is Employee entitled, under AS 23.30.185, to temporary total disability (TTD) benefits?


(5.)
Is Employee entitled, under AS 23.30.095, to recover medical benefits incurred?


(6.)
Is Employee entitled, under AS 23.30.041, to reemployment benefits?


(7.)
Is Employee entitled, under 8 AAC 45.142, to an award of interest on compensation benefits due and not timely paid?


(8.)
Is Employee entitled, under AS 23.30.155, to an award of penalties on compensation benefits due and not timely paid?


(9.)
Is Employee entitled, under 8 AAC 45.180, to an award of legal costs?


(10.) Did Employer file a frivolous or unfair controversion under AS 23.30.155(o)?


SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE & ARGUMENTS

Prior to working for Employer, Employee served a combined 21 years in three branches of the United States military, including: the Marine Corps 1959-1963; the Air Force 1963-1967; and the Army 1967-1980.  In 1980, Employee received an honorable discharge from the military with a rank of Chief Warrant Officer-3.  


During his military career, Employee served two tours in Vietnam: the first in 1968, and the second in 1970.  On September 16, 1968, during his first tour, Employee's helicopter was shot down.  Employee testified he sustained shoulder and right ankle fractures, several men were seriously wounded, and he watched one of his men die.  While in the military, Employee experienced a variety of extensively documented medical problems, including elevated blood pressure and abnormal EKG's.  


At the time of his discharge, Employee received a 20 percent service-connected disability rating from the Veteran's Administration (VA): 10 percent for hypertension, and 10 percent for his right ankle fracture and attendant arthritis.  On August 26, 1996, the VA increased Employee's disability rating to 40 percent to include his gout condition.  On August 6, 1998, the VA increased Employee's disability rating to 50 percent to include his service-connected post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).


Following his military career, Employee testified he worked 11 years for the United States Postal Service, and took early retirement in 1992.  Between 1992 and 1995, Employee testified he held various jobs including retail store clerk, desk clerk, and cab driver.


On May 8, 1995, Employee was hired by Employer as a school bus driver.  In approximately the second week of September of the 1996-97 school year, Employee testified a few students were not obeying the rules on his bus.  Employee testified he completed and filed the requisite "write up" forms.


Employee testified the principal of Chapman Elementary, Frank Garrity, requested Employee attend a meeting with him and one of the boys who had been acting up.  At the meeting, Employee was allowed to ask the student questions.  Employee testified, based on the student's responses, he believed the boy had misunderstood his instructions and that no disciplinary action was necessary.  Employee testified Garrity nonetheless suspended the student from his bus for five days.


Employee testified he subsequently contacted the student's mother, and spoke with her regarding the suspension.  Employee testified the mother believed he suspended her son from the bus.  Employee testified he told the student's mother that Garrity suspended her son, and that he personally did not agree with the principal's decision.


Garrity contacted Joan Coppess, Employee's supervisor, to complain of Employee's actions.
  Coppess testified Garrity instructed her to have Employee see him the next school day.  Coppess testified she informed Employee he was to see Garrity on September 16, 1996, but did not advise him of the reason for the meeting or offer to attend with Employee.  Employee testified Coppess instructed him to report to Garrity's office, in a demeaning manner, in front of the other bus drivers on duty that day.


On September 16, 1996, after completing his morning bus run, Employee testified he reported to Garrity's office.  Employee testified Garrity closed his office door, pointed his finger in Employee's face, raised his voice to Employee, and treated Employee like a child.  Employee testified Garrity's treatment made him feel very anxious and agitated.  Employee also testified he wanted to hit Garrity, thought better of it, and left the meeting.


Employee testified the meeting physically upset him, and he was very angry with the humiliating treatment he received.  Within several minutes of beginning his drive back to the bus barn, Employee testified his chest began to hurt, he broke out in a sweat, his body began to shake, he could not breathe, and his heart felt as though it were racing.  Employee further testified he was very frightened by his physical symptoms because he watched many men shake uncontrollably in Vietnam before they died. 


Employee testified he called dispatch to advise them of his condition.  Coppess testified she took the call and instructed Employee to pull over and wait for the ambulance.  Homer police and paramedics arrived and found Employee conscious and complaining of chest pain and shortness of breath.  Employee testified he was transported to the South Peninsula Hospital emergency room where he was treated for supraventricular tachycardia (SVT), with a heart rate of 180-200, and was released the next day.  The discharge summary from South Peninsula Hospital states:


Mr. Foley is a very pleasant 56-year-old school bus driver who has been under emotional stress for the last three to four days.  He had had a verbal altercation with the principal out in Anchor Point.  He was driving back to Homer when he developed a feeling that he could not breathe.  He had pressure under his breast bone.  This started to become more significant.  He felt weak and dizzy.  He pulled off to the side, called on his radio, and an ambulance arrived.  At that time they found him to be pale, diaphoretic, a systolic pressure, and running a rate of about 180. . . .  He has never had any significant pain or fast heart beat like this in the past.  He has been under a lot of stress.


On September 17, 1996, Employer's Division Manager completed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness, and stated Employee suffered "chest pains" while "driving an empty school bus back to Homer from Anchor Point."
  On October 2, 1996, Employer filed a notice of controversion denying Employee all benefits because his injury "did not occur within the course and scope of his employment."  Employer filed a second controversion on May 21, 1997, which also alleged Employee was not injured in the course and scope of his employment.


On September 18, 1996, Garrity wrote a memorandum to Coppess and stated:


It is my request to replace the driver of bus #51 Mr. Patrick Foley.  This request comes after dealing with Mr. Foley on student discipline matters and experiencing his lack of respect for the established bus rules and my authority as a school principal.  It is my opinion that Bus #51, under Mr. Foley's supervision, is an upsafe [sic] and chaotic environment.


In his place, I request Ms. Debbie Hakkenson be appointed to the route until the job can be filled permanently.


On September 20, 1996, Employee went to the Kenai Veteran's Center to ask for psychological counseling services.  The intake counselor, Jerry Brooks, M.S., wrote:


Vet has very difficult time relating combat experiences in Vietnam.  Very emotional, breaks down in tears . . . Mr. Foley scores 135 on the Mississippi scale for PTSD -- all indicators of this interview point to extreme and chronic PTSD, evidenced by anxiety/panic attacks -- sleep disturbance, avoidance of war/combat related ideas, and the fact that the vet can no longer "keep the lid" on his past. . . .

Following his intake interview, Employee received, and continues to receive, periodic treatment and counseling, including administration of low doses of antidepressant medication, through the Kenai and Anchorage veterans' facilities.


Approximately three weeks later, on October 8, 1996, Employee was evaluated by Dennis B. Elrod, M.D., Staff Psychiatrist, at the Kenai Mental Health Clinic.  In his progress notes, Dr. Elrod stated his impression of the September 16, 1996 work incident was "a panic attack without agoraphobia, one episode after an emotionally stressful encounter."


On January 15, 1997, Employee sought treatment from the Homer Community Mental Health Center to help him "cope with his anxiety and panic attacks."
  Although the substance of the interview is not contained in the intake report, counselor Jim Caringi's, M.S.W., diagnostic impressions included: (1) PTSD; (2) alcohol abuse in early remission; and (3) panic disorder.
  Caringi also referred Employee to Carolyn M. Radar, M.D., Consulting Psychiatrist.


On February 13, 1997, Employee was examined by Dr. Radar.  In her report, Dr. Radar noted:


[A]fter the [September 16, 1996] episode, he began experiencing nightmares and intrusive memories about the traumatic events which occurred in Vietnam which he had not been thinking about for approximately 15-20 years.  He is more easily startled and frightened by seemingly innocuous stimuli which remind him of trauma in Vietnam.  His sleep is disturbed and he often only gets two or three hours at a time and will then toss and turn for the rest of the night.  He has been crying more than usual. . . . He has continued to experience intermittent nervousness about once a week while driving although he is able to control this by concentrating on his breathing.


Upon completing her interview and examination of Employee, Dr. Radar concluded the September 16, 1996 work incident triggered a physiological response, referred to as SVT, which caused Employee to feel helpless, fearful, and anxious, and which in turn exacerbated Employee's PTSD symptoms.
  Moreover, Dr. Radar testified it was very significant in her opinion that the September 16, 1996 work incident happened exactly 28 years later, to the day, of when Employee's helicopter was shot down in Vietnam.  Dr. Radar testified this is known in the practice of psychiatry as an "anniversary reaction."  Dr. Radar further testified Employee's panic disorder resolved by her fourth visit with him on September 25, 1997.  Finally, Dr. Radar testified although Employee's PTSD symptoms improved since the September 16, 1996 work-related incident, she would never opine Employee's PTSD has resolved.


A lengthy dialogue ensued between Employer and Dr. Radar relative to the medical definitions of "panic disorder" and "panic attack."  Upon questioning, Dr. Radar testified a person must have at least two unexpected panic attacks for the diagnosis of panic disorder.
  Dr. Radar further testified she agreed that a "panic attack" is defined as "a discrete period of intense fear or discomfort that is accompanied by at least 4 of 13 somatic or cognitive symptoms."
  Although Dr. Radar did not have all of Employee's medical records with her, she testified it was her recollection, and medical opinion, that Employee suffered more than one panic attack as a result of the September 16, 1996 work incident.  Dr. Radar based her opinion on Employee's description of repeated "nervousness" while driving a vehicle.  Employee testified that subsequent to the September 16, 1996 work incident, he experienced sweating, shaking, shortness of breath, and fear of dying, on several occasions while he was driving a vehicle.


On July 13, 1998, Employer's independent medical examiner (EIME), Eugene K. Klecan, M.D., Psychiatrist, interviewed Employee and reviewed his medical records.  On January 18, 1999, Dr. Klecan was deposed.  Dr. Klecan stated in his report:



The preponderance of the medical records show that Mr. Foley actually suffered a cardiac arrhythmia event on 9-16-96 -- specifically a supraventricular tachycardia, otherwise known as paroxysmal atrial tachycardia, (or PAT, or SVT). . . .  A super fast tachycardia of 180-200, such as was documented on 9-16-96, goes beyond a simple anxiety spell or panic attack.  It was rather an organic cardiac abnormality event.



I have no doubt that panic ensued, but panic was a secondary phenomenon more likely than not.  He was aware that his heart was racing and in pain, and he was understandably alarmed, then escalating alarm when the problem did not abate.



. . . .



His paroxysmal tachycardia event with a one-time secondary panic reaction would likely not have occurred at the time it did, but for the work incident described.  I believe it is less than 50% probable that the tachycardia event would have happened at all, except for the work event.  The work place stress as described . . . and the chronology of events, seem to me of such significance and degree as to reasonably regard it as a cause, attaching responsibility.  



. . . .



Within reasonable medical probability and the preponderance of evidence, Mr. Foley was not disabled within the meaning of the Alaska statutes, after approximately 10-16-96.  By 10-18-96, he was already looking for work, per the records.  This is entirely believable and consistent with all the above observations and records.  It also revealed that he himself viewed himself as not incapacitated from employment, else how could he and why would he be looking for a new job.  (Emphasis added).

 
Dr. Klecan opined the September 16, 1996 work incident combined with Employee's long-standing hypertension, alcohol abuse, and anger control problems and necessitated the medical care Employee received through October 16, 1996.
  It was also Dr. Klecan's opinion Employee returned to his pre-injury status no later than October 16, 1996, because he began looking for work again.  Dr. Klecan testified Employee suffered no permanent impairment, and was capable of returning to work as a school bus driver.


On March 18, 1999, Dr. Radar responded to the Board's written inquiry for clarification regarding Employee's disability, if any, and date of medical stability, as it related to Employee's alleged physical and mental injuries.  In her response, Dr. Radar opined: 


I believe that it is likely that the episode of SVT on 9/16/1996 was directly related to anxiety generated by Mr. Foley's working conditions.  As a result of the 9/16/96 incident, he also sustained two additional injuries: an exacerbation of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and Panic Disorder.  The SVT has not returned to my knowledge since the 9/16/96 incident.  In retrospect, therefore, medical stability of the SVT was achieved as of that date.  Medical stability regarding [the] last two of these problems was attained by September of 1997.  As of that date, Mr. Foley complained of no more disabling symptoms related to anxiety or PTSD.

Dr. Radar also stated, later in her March 18, 1999 report, Employee reached medical stability with respect to the PTSD and anxiety between March and September 1997.  Finally, Dr. Radar stated Employee did not suffer a permanent impairment, and he could return to any of his previous jobs as of September 25, 1997. 


Employee filed an Application for Adjustment of Claim (AAC) on April 2, 1997, and listed "PTSD" as the nature of his injury, and his "mind" as the injured body part.  At hearing, Employee argued he suffered both mental and physical injuries as a result of the September 16, 1996 work incident, and he should receive PTD benefits from September 16, 1996 through the present, medical costs, transportation, reemployment benefits, penalty, and interest.  Employee argued he was entitled to recover for his mental injury because the stress of the September 16, 1996 work incident was extraordinary and unusual in comparison to the stresses experienced by Employer's other bus drivers, and the stress was the predominant cause of his mental and physical injuries.


Employer argued Employee did not suffer a compensable injury as defined in AS 23.30.395(17).  Employer argued Employee was precluded from recovering for his mental injury claim because the September 16, 1996 work incident was a disciplinary matter and was therefore excluded under AS 23.30.395(17).  Employer argued the stress to Employee was not extraordinary and unusual in comparison to the stresses experienced by Employer's other bus drivers, nor was it the predominate cause of any injury.  Employer argued Employee was estopped from requesting compensation for any alleged physical injury because he did not list it on his AAC.  Alternatively, Employer argued if Employee is entitled to any compensation, it should only be awarded from September 16, 1996 through October 16, 1996, per Dr. Klecan's report and testimony.


FINDINGS OF FACT & CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.
DID EMPLOYEE SUFFER A COMPENSABLE MENTAL INJURY IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT?


Alaska Statute 23.30.395(17) defines "injury" in pertinent part:


"[I]njury" means accidental injury or death arising out of and in the course of employment . . . "injury" does not include mental injury caused by mental stress unless it is established that (A) the work stress was extraordinary and unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by individuals in a comparable work environment, and (B) the work stress was the predominant cause of the mental injury; the amount of work stress shall be measured by actual events; a mental injury is not considered to arise out of and in the course of employment if it results from a disciplinary action, work evaluation, job transfer, layoff, demotion, termination, or similar action, taken in good faith by the employer[.]  (Emphasis added).


The statutory presumption of compensability for a physical injury claim does not apply to a claim of mental injury caused by work-related stress.
  In Williams v. State of Alaska, 939 P.2d 1065, 1071-72 (Alaska 1997), our Supreme Court held:


To prevail, [Employee] had to establish by a preponderance of the evidence, without benefit of the presumption of compensability, that: (1) "the work stress was extraordinary and unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by individuals in a comparable work environment"; and (2) the work stress, as measured by actual events, "was the predominant cause of the mental injury. . . . [E]ach element of the test for mental injury arising from work-related stress is mandatory. . . ."  (Emphasis in original).


Because the statutory presumption of compensability does not apply to Employee's mental injury claim, he must prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  Claims for a mental injury must be based on actual events, not Employee's perception of the events.


Based on Coppess' testimony, we find principal Garrity had complete authority to determine the appropriate disciplinary action for any student in his school.  We find, based on testimony from Employee and Coppess, Garrity summoned Employee to his office specifically to reprimand him for contacting a student's mother, and telling the mother he did not agree with principal Garrity's decision to suspend her son from the bus.  Based on Employee's testimony,
 we find on September 16, 1996, Garrity closed his office door, pointed his finger and raised his voice at Employee, while discussing Employee's inappropriate contact with the student's mother.


We find it neither extraordinary, nor unusual, that principal Garrity would verbally reprimand any bus driver, including Employee, who knowingly undermined his disciplinary authority to a student's parent.  We therefore conclude the level of work-related stress Employee experienced on September 16, 1996, was not extraordinary or unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by Employer's other bus drivers under similar circumstances.


Next, we find the actual events of the September 16, 1996 work-related incident were not the predominant cause of Employee's mental injury claim.  We make this finding as follows.  On August 6, 1998, the VA diagnosed Employee with PTSD.
  The diagnosis stated Employee's September 16, 1968, Vietnam helicopter crash, injuries, and hospitalization in Japan, constituted the "stressor" for purposes of establishing the PTSD diagnosis.
  Moreover, Dr. Radar testified she concurred with the VA's diagnosis.  We therefore conclude Employee's Vietnam crash, not the September 16, 1996 work-related incident, was the predominant cause of Employee's PTSD.  


Assuming, arguendo, Employee proved both elements of his mental injury claim, we still find the claim is not compensable under the Act.  We make this finding because a "mental injury is not considered to arise out of and in the course of employment if it results from a disciplinary action . . . taken in good faith by the employer."
  Although we understand how personally stressful the situation was for Employee, we nonetheless find Garrity's disciplinary action was taken in good faith based on Employee's improper conduct.  We therefore conclude, under AS 23.30.395(17), Employee's mental injury claim is not compensable under the Act.

II.
DID EMPLOYEE SUFFER A COMPENSABLE PHYSICAL INJURY IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT?


In deciding whether Employee suffered a compensable physical injury.  Alaska Statute 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part, "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter."  Applying the presumption of compensability is a three step process.


In the first step, we must determine whether Employee has produced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that the injury entitles Employee to workers' compensation benefits.  To raise the presumption Employee need only adduce "some" "minimal" relevant evidence
 establishing a "preliminary link" between the injury claimed and employment,
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability,
 or the continuing entitlement to a benefit.
  If Employee's evidence establishes the preliminary link, we presume Employee's injury is compensable and the burden of producing contrary evidence shifts to Employer.


In the second step, we must determine whether Employer has met its burden of producing contrary evidence.
  To rebut the presumption, Employer must produce "substantial evidence" that "either (1) provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability."
  Evidence presented by Employer that simply points to other possible causes of Employee's injury or disability, without ruling out work-related causes, cannot overcome the presumption of compensability.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.


Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to Employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine Employer's evidence in isolation.
  We defer questions of credibility and the weight to give Employer's evidence until after we have decided whether Employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that Employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  If Employer produces substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability, the presumption drops out, and we move to the third step.


In the third step, Employee bears the burden of proving all elements of the claim by a preponderance of the evidence.
 The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the triers of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
  A longstanding principle in Alaska workers' compensation law is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee's favor.


We find Employee raised the presumption of compensability with respect to his physical injury claim.  We make this finding as follows.  We find Employee, within minutes of leaving the September 16, 1996 meeting with principal Garrity, called Employer's dispatch and reported he was having chest pains, shortness of breath, body shakes, and sweating, while he was returning his school bus to the barn.  We find Coppess took Employee's call, and instructed him to pull off the road and wait for the paramedics to arrive.  We find Employee was admitted to the South Peninsula Hospital emergency room on September 16, 1996, and its medical records establish Employee was treated for SVT with a heart rate of 180-200.  We find the emergency room records also state Employee was released the following day.  Furthermore, we find Dr. Radar and Dr. Klecan's testimony establish Employee suffered an SVT as a direct result of the September 16, 1996 work-related incident.  Because Employee's evidence establishes the preliminary link, we presume his injury is compensable, and the burden of producing contrary evidence shifts to Employer.


Employer may rebut the presumption either by presenting affirmative evidence that the physical injury was not work-related, or by eliminating all possibilities that the injury was work-related.
  Employer could satisfy the former method by offering an expert opinion that Employee's work was probably not a substantial cause of the physical injury.


In this case, we find Employer satisfied neither method.  We make this finding for the following reasons.  We find Employer's EIME, Dr. Klecan, did not express an affirmative opinion that Employee's SVT was not work-related.  Nor did he eliminate all possibilities that Employee's condition was work-related.  On the contrary, we find Dr. Klecan's testimony can only be understood as supporting Employee's position.  We further find Dr. Klecan opined the September 16, 1996 work-related incident combined with Employee's long-standing hypertension, alcohol abuse, and anger control problems, and necessitated the medical care Employee received from September 16, 1996 through October 16, 1996.  We find because Employer failed to rebut the presumption, Employee is entitled to rely on the continuing presumption he suffered a work-related physical injury on September 16, 1996.  Because we find Employee suffered a work-related physical injury, we next consider which, if any, benefits Employee is entitled to under the Act.

III.
PTD BENEFITS -- AS 23.30.180

To be entitled to PTD benefits, an employee must have a total disability, caused by a work-related injury, which is adjudged to be permanent.
  We find Drs. Radar and Klecan both testified Employee suffered no permanent impairment caused by his work-related physical injury.  We find Employee did not present any other medical or vocational evidence or personal testimony, which supports his argument for PTD benefits.  Accordingly, we conclude Employee failed to raise the presumption of compensation for PTD benefits, and is therefore not entitled to PTD benefits.

IV.
TTD BENEFITS -- AS 23.30.185

Alaska Statute 23.30.185 provides:


In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.


 The Act does not define the term "temporary total disability."  In Bailey v. Litwin Corp.,
 the Supreme Court said, "Temporary disability may be total (incapable of performing any kind of work), or partial (capable of performing some kind of work)."


As used in the Act, "disability" means an "incapacity because of an injury to earn wages which the employee was receiving at the time of the injury or any other employment."
  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Supreme Court stated: 


The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.


As we found previously, Employee's mental injury claim is not compensable.  Therefore, we find Employee is not entitled to TTD benefits for any time loss he may have suffered as a result of the exacerbation of his PTSD.  Nonetheless, applying the presumption of compensability we find Employee is entitled to TTD benefits for his physical injury claim.  We make this finding as follows.


Based on Employee's testimony, and the medical records in the file, we find the September 16, 1996 work-related incident caused Employee to suffer an SVT episode.  We find the medical evidence establishes Employee was treated by paramedics at the scene, rushed to the emergency room, and released the following day.  We find Dr. Radar opined Employee was temporarily disabled, as a result of the combined effect of the SVT, the exacerbation of Employee's PTSD, and the panic attacks, until September 25, 1997.
  Because Employee raised the presumption of compensability for TTD benefits, the burden of producing contrary evidence shifts to Employer.


We find Employer failed to present substantial evidence to rebut the presumption Employee is entitled to TTD benefits.  However, we find Employer presented substantial evidence to rebut the presumption for the amount of time Employee is eligible for TTD benefits.  We make this finding as follows.  Employer's EIME, Dr. Klecan, opined:


Within reasonable medical probability and the preponderance of evidence, Mr. Foley was not disabled within the meaning of the Alaska statutes, after approximately 10-16-96.

Because Employer presented substantial evidence to rebut the presumption Employee is entitled to TTD benefits for a period after October 16, 1996, the presumption drops out, and Employee must prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.


We find, based on our review of the record as a whole and by a preponderance of the evidence, Employee is entitled to TTD benefits from September 16, 1996 through October 16, 1996.  We make this finding as follows.  Because of inherent inconsistencies contained within Dr. Radar's reports and testimony, with respect to the date Employee was no longer disabled from the September 16, 1996, work-related incident, we give less weight to her medical opinions.  We also find Dr. Radar opined Employee was medically stable from the SVT episode on the same day it occurred, September 16, 1996.  In which case, Employee would be entitled to no TTD benefits based on his treating physician's opinion.
  Instead, we give greater weight to Dr. Klecan's report and deposition testimony, and therefore find Employee was disabled from September 16, 1996 through October 16, 1996.  We conclude Employer shall pay Employee TTD benefits from September 16, 1996 through October 16, 1996.

V.
MEDICAL BENEFITS -- AS 23.30.095

Alaska Statute 23.30.095(a) provides in pertinent part:  "The employer shall furnish medical . . . treatment . . . for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires."  Alaska Statute 23.30.395(20) provides: "'Medical and related benefits' includes but is not limited to physicians' fees, nurses' charges, hospital services, [and] hospital supplies . . . as may reasonably be required which arises out of or is necessitated by an injury, and transportation charges to the nearest point where adequate medical facilities are available."  The presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for medical benefits.


We find, based on our discussion of the evidence in the previous sections, Employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence he is entitled to medical benefits from September 16, 1996 through October 16, 1996.  We therefore conclude Employer shall pay Employee medical benefits from September 16, 1996 through October 16, 1996.

VI.
REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS -- AS 23.30.041

An employee's eligibility for reemployment benefits is governed by AS 23.30.041(e), which provides:


An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee's written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee's job as described in the United States Department of Labor's "Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles" for


(1) the employee's job at the time of injury; or


(2) other jobs that exist in the labor market that the employee has held or received training for within ten years before the injury . . . .  

We note under AS 23.30.041(f)(3), an employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if "at the time of medical stability no permanent impairment is identified or expected."


We find Dr. Radar and Dr. Klecan both opined that Employee suffered no permanent impairment as a result of his September 16, 1996 work-related physical injury.  We also find both physicians released Employee to return to his job at the time of injury, or any of the other jobs he held in the previous ten years.  We therefore conclude Employee is not entitled to reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041(e) and (f).

VII.
INTEREST -- 8 AAC 45.142

Alaska Statute 23.30.155(b) governs when compensation must be paid, and provides:


The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days, except where the board determines that payment in installments should be made monthly or at some other period.


Our regulation, 8 AAC 45.082(d), provides that medical bills for an employee's treatment are due and payable within 14 days after the date the employer receives the medical provider's bill and a completed report on form 07-6102.  Employer produced no evidence that it did not timely receive the medical bills for Employee's treatment from September 16, 1996 through October 16, 1996, which we have found above to be compensable.  Therefore, we presume the bills were timely and correctly submitted to Employer and remained unpaid beyond the fourteen day period.  


Another regulation, 8 AAC 45.142 provides, in pertinent part, as follows:


If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid. . . .

Our regulation, 8 AAC 45.142, requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate of 10.5% per annum, as provided in AS 45.45.010, from the date at which each installment of compensation is due.
  The Alaska Supreme Court interprets the requirement for interest payments broadly.  "Interest awards are a way to recognize the time value of money, and they give 'a necessary incentive to employers to release . . . money due."


Under 8 AAC 45.142, and in accord with the court's rationale in Childs, we find Employee is entitled to recover interest from Employer on those medical benefits (including medical transportation expenses) we have found above to be compensable.  Further, we find Employee is entitled to an award of interest on the unpaid TTD benefits awarded to Employee, above.

VIII.
PENALTIES -- AS 23.30.155

Alaska Statute 23.30.155 provides, in part:



(a)
Compensation . . . shall be paid periodically, promptly, and directly to the person entitled to it, without an award, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer. . . .



(b)
The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. 



. . . .



(d)
. . . If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due. . . . 



(e)  If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.


An employee is entitled to recover a penalty under subsection .155(e) if an installment of compensation is payable without an award, and is not paid within seven days after it becomes due.  Under subsection .155(a), compensation shall be paid promptly, except where liability to pay compensation is controverted by the employer.  A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty.  For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the employee does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find the employee is not entitled to benefits.


On September 17, 1996, Employer filed an ROI which stated Employee suffered chest pains while "driving an empty school bus back to Homer from Anchor Point."  Fifteen days later, on October 2, 1996, Employer filed a Controversion Notice denying Employee all benefits because his injury "did not occur in the course and scope of his employment."  We find that if a hearing had been held on the record as it existed on October 2, 1996, we could not have held for Employer.  Under the Harp standard, Employer was required to possess sufficient evidence in support of its controversion.  We find Employer not only failed to present sufficient evidence, it presented no evidence, which supported its argument that Employee's injury did not occur in the course and scope of his employment.  This Board is at a loss as to how Employer could even make such argument.  We find Employee was working on September 16, 1996, had a very confrontational verbal argument with principal Garrity, and minutes later suffered an SVT while driving his school bus back to the bus barn in Homer.  We find the South Peninsula Hospital discharge summary stated Employee had a "verbal altercation with the principal," and "[h]e was driving [his bus] back to Homer when he developed a feeling that he could not breathe . . . pressure under his chest bone . . . [he] felt weak and dizzy . . . [and] pulled off to the side, called on his radio, and an ambulance arrived."  We find Employer failed to present sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption Employee's injury was work-related and therefore conclude Employer's controversion was not filed in good faith.  Employer shall pay a penalty on the benefits awarded in this decision and order.

IX.
LEGAL COSTS -- 8 AAC 45.180

Our regulation, 8 AAC 45.180(f) provides in pertinent part:


The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim.  The following costs will, in the board's discretion, be awarded to an applicant:



(1)
costs incurred in making a witness available for cross-examination;



. . . .



(8)
costs incurred in obtaining the in-person testimony of physicians at a scheduled hearing;



(9)
expert witness fees, if the board finds the expert's testimony to be relevant to the claim;



. . . .



(13)
reasonable travel costs incurred by an applicant to attend a hearing, if the board finds that the applicant's attendance is necessary;



. . . .



(15)
duplication fees at 10 cents per page, unless justification warranting awarding a higher fee is presented; [and]



. . . .



(17)
other costs as determined by the board.


 We find Employee prevailed on his TTD, medical and penalty issues in this claim.  We find Employee was required to make Dr. Radar available for cross-examination based on Employer's Smallwood objection.  We find Dr. Radar's expert witness fee was therefore necessary and reasonable, and related to the preparation and presentation of Employee's claim.  We find the Board's written inquiry to Dr. Radar resulted from Employer's cross-examination conducted at the February 9, 1999 hearing.  We find Dr. Radar's costs in preparing her response were necessary and reasonable, and related to Employee's preparation and presentation of his claim.  We find Employee's attendance at both hearings was necessary because he was not represented by an attorney.  We therefore conclude Employee's telephonic and travel costs related to his attendance at both hearings were related to the preparation and presentation of his issues in this claim.


We find, based on a review of the entire record in this case, Employee has not submitted a statement, and accompanying affidavit, which sets forth with particularity all of the costs he incurred in the preparation and presentation of his claim.  Therefore, we instruct Employee to submit a statement which includes: (1) Dr. Radar's expert witness fee for testifying and being available for cross-examination at the January 28, 1999 hearing; (2) Dr. Radar's fee for responding to the Board's March 10, 1999 written inquiry; (3) all telephonic or travel costs incurred to attend Employee's July 11, 1997 deposition; (4) all telephonic and travel costs incurred for Employee to attend the January 28, 1999 and February 9, 1999 hearings; and (5) all duplication costs incurred in preparation for the January 28, 1999 and February 9, 1999 hearings. 
We further instruct Employee to attach an affidavit which states that the costs are correct, and that the costs were incurred in connection with his claim.  Employee is advised he must serve a copy of the statement of costs, and the affidavit, on the Board and Employer's legal counsel.  We reserve jurisdiction to resolve any disputes between the parties as to Employee's legal costs which shall be reimbursed.  

X.
FRIVOLOUS OR UNFAIR CONTROVERSION -- AS 23.30.155(o)


AS 23.30.155(o) provides:


(o) The board shall promptly notify the division of insurance if the board determines that the employer's insurer has frivolously or unfairly controverted compensation due under this chapter.  After receiving notice from the board, the division of insurance shall determine if the insurer has committed an unfair claim settlement practice under AS 21.36.125.


Although the defendants eventually paid all the medical benefits, penalties, and interest, they initially controverted all treatment in excess of the treatment frequency standards of 8 AAC 45.082(f).  In practice, this meant a controversion of the fourth treatment of the first week, June 5, 1997, and a controversion of any future benefits in excess of the frequency standards.  The Alaska Supreme Court has interpreted medical benefits as "compensation" for purposes of AS 23.30.155.


In Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc.,
 the Supreme Court held that an employer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion:  


A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty. . . . For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.


We have applied the court's reasoning from Harp, and held that a controversion not made in good faith is frivolous and unfair for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o).
  We consistently require an employer or insurer to have specific evidence on which to base a controversion.


In this case, Employer's only reason for its controversion was that Employee's injury did not occur in the course and scope of his employment.  Following the Supreme Court's reasoning in Harp, and applying the statutory presumption of compensability, we must determine whether Employer's reason for its controversion overcomes Employee's entitlement to his claimed medical benefits, based on the medical evidence in the record.


We find the record clearly reflects Employee suffered a work-related physical injury.  We make this finding based on the testimony of Employee, Coppess, Dr. Radar, and Dr. Klecan.  We further find the evidence in this case reflects that some medical treatment was reasonable and necessary.  Based on the medical evidence and testimony in this case, we find Employee raised the presumption of compensability for his claimed treatment.


We next consider whether Employer presented substantial evidence to overcome the presumption of compensability, either by:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence the treatment is not work-related and compensable; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the treatment for the injury is work-related and compensable.
  We find Employer provided no substantive challenge to the appropriateness or efficacy of Employee's treatment.  We find Dr. Radar's report of February 13, 1997 opines Employee suffered a work-related physical injury on September 16, 1996.  We also find Employer's physician, Dr. Klecan, also concluded Employee suffered a work-related physical injury.  We find Employer presented no evidence, and certainly not substantial evidence, which rebuts the presumption of compensability for Employee's claimed treatment.  We find the controversion was not made in good faith under the Supreme Court's reasoning in Harp, and we therefore conclude the controversion was frivolous and unfair under AS 23.30.155(o).

XI.
REFERRAL TO THE DIVISION OF INSURANCE

The language in AS 23.30.155(o) is mandatory.  If we find a controversion to be frivolous or unfair, we "shall promptly notify the division of insurance".
  Accordingly, we conclude notice must be sent to the Alaska Division of Insurance to determine if the insurer has committed an unfair claim settlement practice. 


ORDER

(1.)
Employee's claim for PTD and reemployment benefits is denied and dismissed.


(2.)
Employer shall pay TTD benefits from September 16, 1996 through October 16, 1996.


(3.)
Employer shall pay medical benefits, and all associated travel expenses, from September 16, 1996 through October 16, 1996.


(4.)
Employer shall pay penalties on Employee's TTD and medical benefits, and travel expenses, as set forth in this decision.


(5.)
Employer shall pay interest on Employee's TTD and medical benefits, travel expenses, and penalties, as set forth in this decision.


(6.)
Employee shall submit a written statement, and affidavit, which describes with particularity the costs he incurred as set forth in this decision.  Employer shall pay said costs.  


(7.)
We reserve jurisdiction to resolve any disputes between the parties regarding the reimbursement of legal costs as set forth in this decision.


(8.)
Employer's Controversion Notices dated October 2, 1996, and May 21, 1997, were frivolous and unfair.  Under AS 23.30.155(o) this case is referred to the Alaska Division of Insurance to determine if the insurer has committed an unfair claim settlement practice.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this _________________ day of _________________, 1999.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



___________________________________



Gwendolyn Feltis, Designated Chairman



___________________________________



John Abshire, Member



___________________________________



Philip E. Ulmer, Member


If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.


Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of PATRICK J. FOLEY, employee / applicant; v. LAIDLAW TRANSIT, INC., employer; and NATIONAL UNION FIRE INS. CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 9621186; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this _____________ day of _________________, 1999.

                             _________________________________

                             Brady D. Jackson, III, Clerk
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